

Banc Ceannais na hÉireann Central Bank of Ireland

Eurosystem



Signed Article QB1 – January 2022

Contents

Abstract	3
1. Introduction	4
2. Policy and Institutional Context	8
3. Climate-Related Risks and the Transition to Net Zero	o 11
3.1 Transmission Channels of Climate-Related Risks	12
3.2 Primary Policy Actions for the Transition to Net Zero	15
4. Climate Change and Monetary Policy	
4.1 Analytical Challenges	19
4.2 Potential Impact on Monetary Transmission Channels	21
5. Challenges for Macro-Modelling	
5.1 Structural Macro Models	24
5.2 Integrated Assessment Models	27
5.3 A Suite-of-Models Approach	28
Box A: The Economic Impact of Different Transition Scenar	ios30
6. Conclusion	
References	

The Macroeconomic Implications of Climate Change for Central Banks

Niall McInerney¹

Abstract

Climate change is one of the most significant issues affecting the global economy. As a small open economy, Ireland is particularly vulnerable to economic spillovers from the international impact of climate-related risks. In recognition of the potential of these risks to affect their ability to maintain both price and financial stability, many central banks, including the Central Bank of Ireland, have started to embed these risks in their analytical and modelling frameworks. In this Article, we explore the key challenges presented by climate change for central banks. We first examine the economic implications of the risks associated with continuing climate change and abrupt mitigatory actions. We then review how these risks could affect the transmission of monetary policy through conventional channels. Finally, we discuss how the Central Bank's analytical framework needs to adapt and suggest that a suite-of-models approach offers the most practical and effective way of addressing these issues.

¹Irish Economic Analysis Division. The views expressed in this article are solely the views of the author and are not necessarily those held by the Central Bank of Ireland or the European System of Central Banks. The author would like to thank James Carroll, Mark Cassidy, Thomas Conefrey, Sharon Donnery, Neil Lawton, Martin O'Brien, Gerard O'Reilly and Gillian Phelan for helpful comments.

1. Introduction

Climate change is one of the most significant structural forces affecting the global economy (Lane, 2019). In particular, meeting the goals set by the Paris Agreement, and the associated requirement of achieving net zero emissions, will necessitate a deep, and in some cases disruptive, shift in production processes and consumer preferences away from carbon-intensive goods and production methods towards more sustainable alternatives. At the same time, the rising frequency and severity of extreme weather events raises uncertainty about the future distribution of economic shocks hitting the economy.

The economic analysis of the potential impact of climate change focuses on two types of risks: 'physical' and 'transition'. Physical risks relate to economic costs and financial losses that stem from higher temperatures and more frequent and extreme climate events (BCBS, 2021).² In terms of long-term warming, the global average near surface temperature has risen by over 1.1°C relative to pre-industrial levels and the continued anthropogenic emissions of greenhouse gases (GHGs) are projected to lead to further increases in temperature over the next century (Kaufman et al, 2020).

The ongoing rise in average temperatures will likely lead to more regular occurrences of heavy precipitation, higher sea levels, and potentially more severe Atlantic storms that could generate storm surges and extreme waves (IPCC, 2014).³ These events could significantly increase flooding risks in countries like Ireland and thereby raise the economic costs of climate change by damaging property and infrastructure.⁴ Figure 1 shows that the cost of flooding and other extreme climate-related events over that last four decades has been sizeable across the euro area. In the case of Ireland, the cumulative costs are close to 2.3 per cent of modified GNI.

To mitigate global warming and reduce the severity of the impact of climate change, economies need to transition to a low-carbon economy by reducing GHG emissions (IPCC, 2014). However, addressing the risks from

² These include tropical cyclones and hurricanes, extra tropical cyclones, convective phenomena such as tornadoes and severe thunderstorms, mesoscale phenomena such as polar lows, floods, drought, and heatwaves (Stephenson, 2008).
³ For example, Met Eireann projects that the frequency of heavy precipitation

events during autumn and winter months in Ireland could rise by 20 per cent (Nolan et al, 2017).

⁴ These economic costs are in addition to the harm to human health and well-being, cultural heritage, and the environment that is caused by these events.

climate change is particularly challenging due to the so called "tragedy of the horizon" which posits that while mitigation policies may lead to output losses in the medium term, the benefits accrue over the longer term due to the avoidance of much greater damage from climate change over that longer horizon (Carney, 2015). The long term nature of these risks differs from the typical planning and risk management horizons of consumers, firms, governments and policy organisations. Accordingly, as climaterelated risks have a different frequency and temporal distribution compared to other types of macroeconomic and financial risks, tackling these risks from a policy perspective requires concerted effort and leadership (Lane, 2019).

Figure 1: Cumulative GDP losses due to extreme weather and climate-related events 1980-2019 (% of 2019 GDP)



Source: European Environment Agency, AMECO, Drudi et al (2021) Notes: Losses for Ireland are calculated in terms of modified GNI (GNI*).

In response to the risks posed by climate change, countries representing 70 per cent of global emissions and GDP have set targets for net zero emissions by 2060 at the latest (IEA, 2021). Both the European Commission and Irish government have announced plans to reach net zero emissions by 2050. These plans include policy measures that will increase the price of carbon, stimulate innovation and enhance the energy efficiency of firms and households. However, the process of adjustment towards a low-carbon economy can give rise to certain risks ('transition risks'). Several factors could slow or disrupt the transition, and adversely affect the economy and financial system (BCBS, 2021). For example, abrupt or uncoordinated carbon pricing policies could lead to large cost increases for carbon-intensive firms and to a sharp depreciation of assets values of firms in carbon-intensive sectors. The resulting fall in the collateral values of these 'stranded' (or unusable) assets could significantly reduce investment and generate financial stability concerns. Risks may also arise from unanticipated technological breakthroughs that lead to structural shifts in production processes and render carbon-intensive technologies obsolete. Finally, short-term transition risks can stem from sudden changes in the expectations of consumers, firms or financial markets about future policies or technologies, which can lead to a spike in risk premia for firms in the affected sectors (Vermeulen et al, 2018).

There is therefore considerable heterogeneity in the exposure of sectors to transition risks.⁵ Table 1 illustrates this heterogeneity for Ireland. It shows that Irish emissions, whether in terms of all GHGs or just CO₂, are mainly driven by a small number of sectors including agriculture, electricity and manufacturing.⁶ With the exception of manufacturing, these sectors also represent a relatively small share of total gross value added.

Sector	GVA Share (%)	GHG Share (%) ⁷	CO ₂ Share (%)	GHG Intensity (Kg/€)	CO₂ Intensity (Kg/€)	Energy Intensity (%)
Agriculture, forestry, and fishing	1	43.1	4.8	7.2	0.4	18.7
Transportation and Storage	2.1	6.8	12.3	0.5	0.5	52.1
Electricity, gas, steam, air con. Supply	1.1	19.9	35.3	3.1	3.0	53.9
Manufacturing	35.4	16.1	29.1	0.1	0.1	1.5
Water supply, sewerage, waste mgt.	0.4	3.9	3.3	1.5	0.7	12.8
Wholesale and retail trade	7.8	2.5	4.7	0.1	0.1	2.9
All sectors	100	100	100	0.2	0.1	3.2

Table 1: Irish Sectoral Emissions and Energy Intensities in 2018

Source: CSO and own calculations

⁵ While this analysis focuses on sectoral vulnerabilities, there is also substantial heterogeneity in exposures to transition risks at the household level. For example, Tovar Reanos and Lynch (2019) show that the share of expenditure on heating and lighting for the lowest quartile income households in Ireland is almost three times that of the highest.

⁶ The emissions data are adjusted for non-territorial activities to calculate emissions on a territorial basis. See Conefrey et al (2022) for further details.

 $^{^7}$ GHGs emissions include emissions from carbon dioxide (CO₂), methane, nitrous oxide, hydro-fluorocarbons, perfluorocarbons, nitrogen triflouride and sulphur hexafluoride in CO₂ equivalents.

The energy and emission intensities of production in these sectors can be used to indicate the potential vulnerability of each sector to policy- or regulatory-induced changes in the price of emissions.⁸ Although manufacturing accounts for between 12 and 18 per cent of sectoral emissions, its energy and emissions intensities are close to the mean for all sectors. In contrast, the water supply, sewerage and waste management sector accounts for a relatively small share of emissions but has an energy and emissions intensities well above the average. Output in agriculture has the highest GHG emission intensity due to its emissions of methane, while its carbon dioxide emissions intensity is low.⁹ The transportation and energy generation sectors have the highest energy intensities. This suggests that these sectors, together with the emissions intensive agriculture and water and waste management sectors, could be the most affected by transition risks in the short to medium term

While fiscal authorities control the primary policy instruments that can mitigate climate-related risks, there is a growing recognition among central banks that these risks could affect their ability to meet price and financial stability objectives (Lagarde, 2021). Moreover, the broad-ranging impact of climate change, as well as the important role that central banks can play in financing the transition, places it firmly in the bailiwick of central banks (Makhlouf, 2021).

In this context, although there is broad acknowledgement that climaterelated risks could have an increasingly adverse impact on the economy, relatively few studies examine the particular channels through which these risks affect the conduct of monetary policy, or the implications of these risks for central banks' analytical frameworks.¹⁰ In this *Article*, we explore these issues. We first outline the main channels through which physical and transition risks affect output and inflation, and consider the key policy interventions that can mitigate these risks. We then examine how climate change presents analytical challenges for assessing the short-to mediumterm trajectory of the economy and how this, together with its impact on the natural rate of interest, may complicate the calibration of the monetary stance. We also consider how climate change may alter the transmission of

⁸ The energy intensity of production is calculated as the share of the sector's energy expenditure in its GVA. The GHG and CO₂ emissions intensities of production are calculated by dividing emissions in kilograms by gross value added in constant prices. ⁹ See Conefrey et al (2022) for a discussion of the carbon intensity of employment across sectors in Ireland.

¹⁰ Notable exceptions are Batten et al (2016) and Drudi et al (2021).

monetary policy through conventional channels, which could change how central banks respond to aggregate economic shocks.

Finally, we discuss the conceptual and technical challenges of incorporating climate risks in the models typically used by central banks for policy and scenario analysis. These challenges stem from the long-term and persistent nature of the shocks arising from climate change, the global nature of the climate change externality, uncertainty about the stability of economic relationships, and the potential for non-linearities to amplify the impact of climate-related shocks. (Batten, 2018).

The focus of our analysis is on the macroeconomic impact of climate change. We therefore abstract from the important impact of climate change on the stability of the financial system. The interaction between climate and financial stability risks is examined in Donnery (2019), Lane (2019) and Madouros (2020), while the impact of climate change on bank supervision is discussed in Sibley (2021). This *article* accordingly tries to complement their analysis by providing a macroeconomic and monetary perspective on the broader implications of climate change for central banks.

The remainder of this article is structured as follows. Section 2 outlines the current policy and institutional context framing the transition to net zero. Section 3 presents an overview of the channels through which physical and transition risks can affect the economy, and examines the role of different transition policies. Section 4 discusses how these risks could affect the calibration and transmission of monetary policy, while Section 5 considers how they can be incorporated in the macroeconomic models typically used by central banks. Section 6 concludes.

2. Policy and Institutional Context

Carbon pricing policies represent a key component of the EU's strategy to combat climate change. Since 2005, the Emission Trading System (ETS) has regulated the emissions of entities involved in power and heat generation, energy intensive industrial activities, and aviation, which combined comprise 41 per cent of the EU's total emissions.¹¹ This 'cap-and-trade' system sets regulatory limits, or 'caps', on the total amount of certain GHGs that can be emitted in a

¹¹ The European Commission is currently considering proposals to include road transport, shipping and buildings in EU ETS.

given year by these entities. Emissions permits are then issued that are consistent with that cap and these can be traded or auctioned between firms. The cap is reduced over time so that emissions fall. Since the introduction of the ETS, total emissions of the in-scope sectors have fallen by almost 43 per cent.

In addition to the ETS, European Commission has adopted a series of legislative proposals, as part of the 'European Green Deal' outlining how it intends to achieve net zero emissions in the EU by 2050. Through the 'fit-for-55' proposals it has also established an intermediate target of a minimum 55 per cent reduction in GHG emissions *relative to 1990 levels* by 2030 (European Commission, 2021). One of the primary policy vehicles achieving these targets and for financing the transition is the €750 billion Next Generation EU (NextGenEU) fund. At least 37 per cent of the resources available through NextGenEU are ring-fenced for climate and biodiversity projects.¹²

While Ireland is subject to EU emissions regulations such as the ETS, it has also announced its own plan to combat climate change. *Climate Action Plan 2021* documents the Irish government's strategy for achieving a 51 per cent reduction in GHG emissions *relative to 2018* levels by 2030 and reaching net zero emissions by 2050 (DECC, 2021). Table 2 outlines the emission reduction requirements and key policies proposed for each sector under the plan.

Sector (reduction)	Policy/Targets
Energy (62-81%)	 Increase renewable electricity - wind and solar up to 80% Support scheme for micro-generation (plus feed-in tariffs) New connectors/interconnections to Northern Ireland, Great Britain, and the EU Complete the phase-out of coal and peat-fired electricity generation
Transport (42-50%)	 Increase the number of EVs to circa 1 million by 2030 Enable 500,000 daily sustainable travel journeys by 2030

Table 2: Climate Action Plan: Emissions Reductions Targets and Policies

¹² Ireland will receive approximately EUR 500 million for climate-related initiatives including the retrofitting of public buildings, electrification of commuter rail and rehabilitation of peatlands (DEPR, 2021a).

	 Expansion of rail services, and cycling and walking infrastructure Increase the use of biofuels in transport
Business (29-41%)	 Introduce new obligation to ensure energy for heat comes from renewable sources Prioritise longer-life and lower-carbon cement blends in public contracts 80% of cement energy needs will come from alternative fuels and waste recovery 50-60% of the total fuel demand for heating will be met by carbon-neutral heating.
Buildings (44-56%)	 Blend low-cost loans with SEAI grants to make retrofits affordable Retrofit 500,000 homes to B2 BER / cost optimal equivalent or carbon equivalent Install 400,000 heat pumps in existing homes and 250,000-280,000 in new homes Roll out district heating scheme

Source: Climate Action Plan 2021

With the proposed introduction of carbon budgets, emissions in each sector would be required to fall by prescribed amounts by 2030, including by up to 81 per cent in the energy sector. The plan also includes a wide-ranging set of mitigation policies and regulatory changes. These include measures to boost energy efficiency through a large-scale retrofitting of the housing stock and commitments to raise the proportion of renewable electricity to 80 per cent by the end of the decade. An important driver of the decarbonisation process will be the legislated increase in the carbon tax, which will rise from its current level of €41 per tonne to €100 per tonne by 2030. The climate action plan is complemented by the €165 billion National Development Plan 2021-2030, which, through the electrification of transport and construction of low-carbon infrastructure, could facilitate a shift in the long-term energy mix of production and consumption towards sustainable alternatives (Krogstrup and Oman, 2019; DEPR, 2021b).

From a policy perspective, the intersection of climate change with areas of competency other than those of governments' is now widely recognised. In this context, the European Central Bank and the European System of Central Banks recently completed a monetary policy strategy review, which included an exploration of the channels through which climate change interacts with their collective primary and secondary mandates of, respectively, maintaining price stability and supporting the policies of the European Union.¹³ It also published an action plan outlining its goals in terms of assessing the vulnerability of financial institutions to climate-related risks, augmenting its modelling frameworks to incorporate the impact of these risks on the economy, and adjusting its collateral operations and asset purchase programmes to include climate change criteria (ECB, 2021).

The challenge presented by climate change for central banks' ability to achieve their mandate is highlighted in the Central Bank of Ireland's new *Strategy* for the 2022-2026 period (CBI, 2021). In particular, the strategy emphasises the importance of being 'futurefocused' in terms of anticipating how climate-related risks could inhibit its ability to meet its mandate, and adopting a 'safe-guarding' approach to monitoring and mitigating the potential impact of these risks risks on price and financial stability. The latter includes the development of analytical frameworks that capture appropriately the implications of both physical risks and primary policy mitigants on the economy. To operationalise this strategy, the Central Bank has implemented or participated in a number of initiatives including the establishment of a Climate Change Unit as a central hub for coordinating the Bank's work on climate change and becoming a member of the Network for Greening the Financial System (NGFS).¹⁴

3. Climate-Related Risks and the Transition to Net Zero

Physical and transition risks can be the source of significant shocks to the economy. In this section, we outline the channels through which these risks are transmitted and discuss how the shocks generated by the risks differ in their timing and persistence. We then examine the mix of climate-related policies that can minimise the economic cost of the transition to net zero emissions.

¹³ See Corbisiero and Lawton (2021) for a discussion of the key findings from the *Strategy Review*.

¹⁴ The NGFS is a consortium of central banks and supervisors that was formed in 2017 to "help strengthen the global response required to meet the goals of the Paris Agreement and to enhance the role of the financial system to manage risks and to mobilise capital for green and low-carbon investments" (NGFS, 2019a).

3.1 Transmission Channels of Climate-Related Risks

Table 3 summarises how the shocks associated with each type of climate risk affect both the demand and supply sides of the economy.

Extreme events reduce output by damaging the productive capacity of the economy and causing disruption to the supply of intermediate goods.¹⁵ These phenomena can lower consumption and investment by damaging household and firm assets, respectively. For example, if insurers consider these risks uninsurable, the losses arising from these events will have a larger impact on the balance sheets of firms and households, and likely reduce their ability to borrow due to lower collateral values (Donnery, 2019). Inflation levels (and volatility) may rise due to goods shortages.

Gradual warming is likely to have a negative impact on output, with higher temperatures reducing labour supply, labour productivity and investment being diverted towards adaptation technologies (such as air conditioning or insulation) and away from potentially more productive areas that could stimulate innovation (Fankhauser and Tol, 2005; Dell et al, 2014). For example, current evidence suggests that labour productivity falls by 2 per cent per degree above humans comfort temperature of between 18°C and 22°C (Heal and Park, 2016). The shift in consumer preferences towards low-carbon products and the change in comparative cost advantages across countries is likely to result in changes in relative prices. Rising sea levels, along with other geophysical changes, could also alter trade patterns by disrupting existing trade routes.

Transition risks arising from uncertainty about the trajectory of future policies reduce consumption and investment. In addition, cross-country differences in the stringency of climate policies can cause shifts in comparative cost advantage and thereby affect trade in intermediate and final goods. The supply potential of an economy might also be adversely affected by asset stranding and worker displacement in carbon-intensive sectors.

¹⁵ While productivity may increase if firms in the reconstruction phase invest in newer technologies, the empirical evidence on the recovery of economies from extreme events suggests productivity growth does not recover to its previous trend in the aftermath of the event (Von Peter et al, 2012; Hsiang and Jina, 2014).

Shock	Variable	Extreme Events	Gradual warming	Transition Risks	
Demand Shocks	Investment	Reconstruction. Investment delays from uncertainty about climate risks.	Change in preferences towards greener products	Crowding out' from climate policies. Uncertainty about transition path.	
	Consumption	Uninsured damage to property could cause permanent decrease in wealth.	Change in preferences towards greener products	Crowding out' from climate policies. Shift towards greener consumption.	
	Trade	Change in food prices. Disruption to trade flows.	Trade routes disrupted due to geophysical changes.	Distortions from asymmetric climate policies.	
	Labour Supply	Loss of hours worked due to natural disasters	Loss of hours worked due to extreme heat. International migration	Unemployment due to sectoral composition changes.	
Supply Shocks	Energy, food and other inputs	Food and other input shortages. Disruption to transport and production chains.	Decline in agriculture productivity and yields.	Risks to energy supply.	
	Capital stock	Damage due to extreme weather.	Diversion of resources from productive investment to adaptation	Resources diverted to mitigation activities. Stranded assets.	
	Technology, Productivity	Destruction of capital and infrastructure. Diversion of resources from productive investment to adaptation capital	Diversion of resources from innovation to adaptation capital. Lower labour productivity due to heatwaves.	Uncertainty about the rate of innovation and adoption of clean energy technologies.	
Aggregate impact on Output and Inflation	Output Crop failures.		Investment diverted to mitigation. Lower labour productivity.	Frictions from distortive transition policies. Policy uncertainty.	
	Inflation Inflation volatility, particularly for food, housing and energy.		Relative prices changes due to shifting consumer preferences and changes in comparative cost advantages.	Prices affected by transition policies, policy uncertainty, technological changes and shifts in consumer preferences.	
Timing of Impact		Short to medium run	Medium to long run	Short to medium run	

T	ab	le	3:	Μ	lacr	oeco	onor	nic	risł	(s f	rom	c	lima	te	char	າge
																-0-

Source: Adapted from Batten (2018) and Drudi et al (2021)

A key variable that determines the stance of monetary policy is the natural rate of interest, denoted r^{*}. The natural rate of interest represents the real interest rate that is consistent with output equalling potential and stable inflation (Woodford, 2003; Laubach and Williams, 2003). When r^{*} is low,

central banks have less room to provide monetary accommodation through conventional monetary policy and thus face a higher probability of hitting the effective lower bound on interest rates (Mertens and Williams, 2019). The economic disturbances precipitated by climate-risks could put persistent downward pressure on r^{*}. First, the reduction in the effective supply of labour from emigration, and higher morbidity and mortality, raises the amount of capital per worker and reduces its marginal product over the long term.¹⁶ This would lower r^{*}. Second, the decline in productivity growth from shocks driven by physical and transition risks could increase savings and reduce the natural rate, as shown in the Ramsey growth model (Ramsey, 1928).Third, uncertainty about future climaterelated risks can lead to higher risk premia, which can lower r^{*} by increasing the propensity to save,and the demand for safe assets, while reducing willingness to invest in risky assets (Caballero and Fahri, 2018; Bansal et al, 2019).

As discussed below, however, the downward pressure on r^{*} from the impact of climate change could be mitigated by higher government spending. In addition, while the diversion of resources from innovation towards adaptation may lower productivity growth and thus r^{*}, this could be outweighed by higher productivity growth arising from investment in green technologies. In this case, the a priori impact on r^{*} is ambiguous.

Table 3 also shows how the timing of the impact of economic shocks varies according to each type of risk. As discussed in the next section, the differential timing and persistence of economic shocks driven by climaterelated risks presents particular analytical challenges for central banks. Extreme weather events happen unexpectedly and therefore affect the economy in the short to medium run through the channels outlined above. In contrast, the economic impacts from global warming tend to manifest more slowly, with the full severity of its impact on the productive capacity of the economy arising over the medium to long run.

For transition risks, the sequencing of policy actions and pace of technological progress will heavily influence their impact on the economy. Figure 2 depicts the case of an 'orderly' or gradual transition, in which the gradual rise in the price of carbon, allows firms sufficient time to reduce the carbon-intensity of their production processes, while technological progress increases the availability of low-carbon substitutes and mitigates

¹⁶ The impact on r^{*} from migration is clearly heterogeneous across countries, as capital per worker would fall in those countries that receive migrants.

any sharp rise in energy prices. However, we can also consider scenarios in which the transition to a carbon-neutral economy is 'disorderly'. Figure 2 also shows two variants of the latter: a 'sudden' transition scenario in which the rapid shift away from carbon-intensive production leads to a spike in energy prices and a reduction in the supply of energy, and a 'delayed' transition scenario in which climate action is postponed until 2035 before highly stringent mitigation policies are introduced resulting in a sharp adverse productivity shock.

In these disorderly scenarios, investors may shift their portfolios away from 'brown' sectors resulting in the assets of firms in those sectors becoming 'stranded' or suddenly depreciating in value. Higher relative prices for carbon-intensive products may also lead to customers substituting away from these goods towards 'greener' alternatives.¹⁷ These sudden adjustments could lead to a significant fall in aggregate output in the short to medium term.



Source: Allen et al (2020)

3.2 Primary Policy Actions for the Transition to Net Zero

Transition risks associated with the path to a carbon-neutral economy can be mitigated through the expeditious implementation of a range of policies aimed at initiating changes in behaviour and facilitating green innovation.

¹⁷ As discussed below, asset stranding can also lead to a rise in corporate insolvencies and increased risks to financial stability.

Carbon pricing is widely seen as one of the key policy responses to achieving an 'orderly' transition.¹⁸ By internalising the climate change effects associated with carbon emissions, carbon pricing incentivises household and firms to switch from high- to low-carbon activities (de Mooij et al, 2012; Drudi et al, 2021).¹⁹ Moreover, predictable and gradual increases in carbon prices provide a signal to investors to shift resources from 'brown' to 'green' sectors and can therefore can spur investment in low-carbon technologies and infrastructure (Aghion et al, 2009). The sectoral shifts in production that are integral to the transition to a low-carbon economy can lead to worker dislocation in the short term. Higher carbon prices can also reduce real household incomes and can have a proportionately larger impact on low-income households (De Bruin et al, 2019b). Accordingly, recycling carbon tax revenues in the form of transfers to the most affected households and supports for labour market adaptation can help reduce the economic cost of the transition for those that are proportionately most affected (Black et al, 2021). Carbon revenues could alternatively be used to lower more distortionary taxes such as those on wages and profits, potentially yielding a 'double dividend' of reducing emissions while boosting growth (Bovenberg, 1999).

As policy instruments aimed at reducing GHG emissions, carbon taxes and cap-and-trade schemes with full coverage are broadly equivalent as both can achieve the same carbon price. While carbon taxes generate a more stable trajectory for carbon prices, the associated reduction in emissions is less predictable due to uncertainty about the future technologies and abatement costs (Drudi et al, 2021). In contrast, as cap-and-trade schemes impose regulatory ceilings on emissions that fall over time, they tend to lead to more stable emissions paths but more volatile carbon prices (Aldy and Stavins, 2012).

One concern that frequently follows the introduction of carbon pricing policies is that, in the absence of international coordination, higher domestic carbon prices could adversely affect a country's

¹⁸ Carbon pricing policies also include the removal or phasing-out of fossil fuel subsidies. See De Bruin et al (2019a) for an analysis of the impact on the Irish economy of policies that simultaneously lower fossil fuel subsidies and raise carbon taxes. ¹⁹

competitiveness.²⁰ This is a corollary of the 'pollution haven' hypothesis, which posits that carbon-intensive production could shift to countries with less stringent climate policies, resulting in 'carbon leakage'. This relocation of production if on a large scale could create pollution havens in the host economies (Levinson and Taylor, 2008). Empirical estimates of the pollution haven effect for EU countries suggest that emissions rise by up to 30 per cent in the rest of the world for each unit of EU emissions avoided, with leakage rates highest for emissions-intensive and trade-exposed industries such as cement, aluminium, steel and iron (Chen et al, 2020).

Carbon leakage can be mitigated via the implementation of a carbon border adjustment mechanism (CBAM), whereby countries impose tariffs on imports from countries with less stringent environmental policies (Parry et al, 2021). However, challenges to implementing a CBAM include the difficulty in measuring the emissions embodied in imports due to data constraints, the administrative burden, and the potential for retaliation.²¹

Effective carbon pricing regimes typically have several core features (IMF, 2019). First, the carbon price covers a broad range of emissions, as well as other environmental costs including traffic congestion and local air pollution.²² Carbon prices should also reflect co-benefits or additional economic benefits that stem from climate policies, including their impact on innovation, resource allocation and productivity growth (Batten et al, 2020). Second, the trajectory of carbon prices over time should be gradual and predictable to spur investment in low-carbon technology. Third, the revenue generated from carbon pricing policies should be used efficiently, while some redistribution may also be needed to protect the real living standards of low-income households (Drudi et al, 2021).

²⁰ An alternative view, as encapsulated in the 'Porter hypothesis' (Porter, 1991; Porter and van der Linde, 1995), is that environmental regulations could lead to gains in international competitiveness by providing incentives for 'green' innovation that would not have happened in the absence of these regulations. However, there is little empirical evidence to support this view (Dechezlepretre and Sato, 2014).

²¹ An alternative approach to reduce leakage would be for large economies to establish a "Green Club", which would set an international floor on carbon prices (Chen et al, 2020).

²² An important feature of co-benefits is that they can be realised in the medium run, while the impact of mitigation policies on climate change likely only materialises in the long run (Batten et al, 2020).

However, carbon pricing policies are only one of the necessary components of a successful transition to a low-carbon economy. Governments also have a key role in supporting the transition through complementary structural policies that facilitate the shift away from carbon-intensive activities. Investment in public transportation and urban infrastructure is particularly important as this type of public expenditure can lock in the long-term energy mix for the economy and embed behavioural changes initiated by higher carbon prices (Krogstrup and Oman, 2019).

Governments can influence the speed and timing of the transition through policies aimed at expediting the diffusion of green technologies, worker retraining, and supporting research and innovation. Governments may also have a role in the development of clean technologies, as the knowledge produced in development process is only partially excludible so its social benefits are not fully captured (Batten, 2018).²³ Similarly, the uncertain returns, large sunk costs, network effects and long time-horizons associated in particular with the development of these technologies rationalise government intervention (Acemoglu et al, 2016; Mazzucato and Penna, 2016; Hotte, 2020). Government support can then be withdrawn once the technologies are sufficiently mature (Acemoglu et al, 2012).

As discussed above, the economic shocks generated by climaterelated risks could put downward pressure on the natural rate of interest, r*. However, fiscal policy related to the transition could offset some of these forces. By increasing investment in innovation and ensuring an orderly transition, governments can mitigate the uncertainty-driven rise in risk premia and boost future productivity growth. In addition, recycling carbon tax revenues to increase transfers to low-income households and reduce other distortionary taxes could spur consumption and investment. Both of these measures would mitigate the potential decline in r* from physical and transition risks.

²³ Dechezlepretre et al (2017) find that knowledge spillovers, as measured by patent citations, are significantly higher for 'green' compared to 'brown' technologies. They suggest that the knowledge spillover effect of low-carbon technologies is comparable to that from information and communications technologies (ICT).

Finally, there are some concerns that the increase in transitionrelated government investment, together with the reconstruction and adaptation costs from global warming and more extreme weather events, will have significant implications for the stability of public finances, particularly in fiscally weaker countries (Darvas and Wolff, 2021; Zenios, 2021). In terms of the likely scale of expenditure, the European Green Deal assumes that additional (public and private) investment of close to two per cent of GDP per annum over the next decade will be needed to meet the EU's 2030 climate and energy targets. The extent to which the required increase in government spending will be financed by debt is uncertain (Pisani-Ferry, 2021). A key issue is how revenues from carbon taxes are recycled. If these revenues are ring-fenced to finance higher investment, support innovation, and reduce distortionary taxes, growth effects could help mitigate risks to fiscal sustainability (NGFS, 2021).

4. Climate Change and Monetary Policy

Central banks adopt a forward-looking approach to assess the key risks to meeting their primary objective of price stability over the medium term. Consequently, the calibration of the monetary stance requires identifying the nature, persistence and magnitude of shocks affecting the economy. As economic shocks can originate from climate-related risks over the time horizon that the stance is assessed, these risks could increasingly be of concern to monetary policymakers. We now examine how climate change could affect the conduct of monetary policy and the ability of central banks to achieve their primary mandates.

4.1 Analytical Challenges

As outlined in Table 3, climate change can affect the nature, timing and persistence of economic shocks hitting the economy. While climate-related shocks can affect both the demand and supply sides of the economy, disentangling one from the other is particularly challenging from an analytical perspective. Moreover, little is known about how these shocks interact and whether there are amplification mechanisms in these interactions that generate non-linear impacts on the economy. From a monetary policy perspective, climate-related risks can have differing implications for how a central bank should respond depending on how they affect the economy. For example, physical risks such as extreme weather events that affect the supply side of the economy will tend to lower output and raise inflation. Accordingly, and in contrast to demand side shocks, central banks face a trade-off between stabilising inflation and boosting economic activity. The typical monetary response in this case is calibrated based on the magnitude and persistence of the shock (Drudi et al, 2021). Central banks will tend to 'look through' shocks that are expected to be transitory but intervene in response to those that are likely to be persistent and feed back into inflation expectations. Climate change, by increasing the frequency, severity, and persistence of supply shocks, could therefore require a recalibration of central banks' monetary reaction functions to incorporate the potential impact of these shocks on price stability over the medium term (Boneva et al, 2021).²⁴

In addition to physical risks, transition risks can also have implications for price stability. For example, higher carbon prices arising from carbon taxes or cap-and-trade schemes will tend to raise inflation in the short-term as low-carbon substitutes may not be readily available.²⁵ The dynamic effect of carbon policies on inflation will ultimately be determined by the transition path. For example, in an orderly transition, carbon prices rise steadily and predictably over time, thereby raising the price of carbon-intensive goods. Investment in green technologies increases the availability of low-carbon alternatives, which allows consumers to substitute away from increasingly expensive carbon-intensive goods. Therefore, the net impact of higher carbon prices on inflation should dissipate over time as the share of these goods in consumption falls. However, a persistent rise in inflation over the medium term due to carbon pricing policies may lead to tighter monetary policy in order to limit feedback to inflation expectations (Schnabel, 2022).

²⁴ The monetary policy rate typically influences economic activity over the short to medium term. However, if climate change shocks have a duration longer that the typical horizon of monetary policy, central banks may be unable to fully reverse their impact on the economy (Coeure, 2018; Villeroy de Galhau, 2019).

²⁵ See Kanzig (2021) for evidence on the impact of carbon price shocks on inflation.

In the case of the euro area, differences in exposure to physical and transition risks suggests that climate change is likely to have heterogeneous effects across member countries. The diverse climate systems across the euro area imply differential regional vulnerability to physical risks. For example, the main physical risk affecting countries in the Northern Europe is higher precipitation which could lead to more frequent episodes of flooding. In contrast, countries in Central and Southern Europe are most vulnerable to higher temperatures and drought (European Environment Agency, 2017). While euro area countries are members of the EU's emissions trading scheme (EU ETS) which covers approximately 40 per cent of the EU's GHG emissions, differences in other transition policies and initial levels of emissions, could lead to considerable cross-cross heterogeneity in the impact of transition risks.

4.2 Potential Impact on Monetary Transmission Channels

Table 4 from Drudi et al (2021) outlines how each type of climaterelated risk could interact with the main transmission channels of monetary policy.²⁶ As the relationship between climate change and monetary policy is a nascent area of research, the discussion here focuses on the conceptual issues and abstracts from the potential strength of the impacts on each channel. In the context of the euro area, it is also important to note that there is likely to be considerable cross-country heterogeneity in the impact of climate-related risks on these channels due to differences in countries' exposures to each type of risk.

The *interest rate channel* captures how a change in policy rates directly affects money-market rates and, indirectly, banks' lending and deposit rates. The change in short-term rates will also tend to raise long-term rates through the expectations hypothesis. As discussed above, the increase in risk aversion and uncertainty that stems from both physical and transition risks can lead to higher precautionary savings by households and lower investment by firms. A given change in interest rates will consequently have a smaller impact on the real economy, all else equal. The potential fall in the interest rate sensitivity of aggregate demand would therefore imply

²⁶ See Beyer et al (2017) for an overview of the transmission channels of monetary policy.

a weakening of one of the key transmission channels of conventional monetary policy.

The *credit channel* reflects the importance of banks' balance sheets for the transmission of monetary policy. A policy-induced fall in interest rates increases borrowers' net worth by increasing the net present value of their assets, thereby raising the collateral values of such assets and increasing borrowers' ability to obtain credit. Climate-related risks can weaken the transmission of monetary policy through the credit channel via their impact on borrower creditworthiness and collateral values, which raises borrowing constraints for firms and households. In addition, if banks' balance sheets become impaired due to higher rates of borrower default, lending risk premia may rise. Both the decline in collateral values and rise in risk premia could then lead a contraction in the supply of loans to the real economy.

As discussed above, climate-related risks could lead to a lowering of equilibrium interest rates over the longer term. In addition to other factors that have been suppressing long-term rates, this could further lower net interest margins and bank profitability. As retained earnings are a key source of capital for banks (Cohen and Scatigna, 2016), this would weaken the ability of banks to expand their balance sheets and provide credit to the real economy.

	Physical Risks	Transition Risks			
	From more common extreme weather events and persistent warming	From carbon pricing and reducing emissions			
Interest rate channel	Non-interest cost factors become more relevant, lowering investment and saving response to interest rate changes.	Uncertainty about timing and speed of policy response raises risk premia and volatility. Natural rate of interest affected.			
Credit channel	Financial losses reduce borrower net worth and bank collateral. NPLs constrain credit supply.	Financial losses reduce borrower net worth and bank collateral. NPLs constrain credit supply.			
Asset price channel	Physical risks destroy capital and residential property. Financial losses lower firm valuations.	Demand shifts across sectors and regions. Stranded assets.			
Exchange rate channel	Devaluation incentive for short- term competitiveness gain. Higher volatility.	Border carbon adjustment may disrupt trade routes and global value chains.			

Table 4: Impact of Climate Change on Monetary Policy Transmission

Expectations	
channel	

Monetary policy less predictable since shock persistence uncertain, blurring supply/demand.

Time-consistent transition policies reduce monetary policy credibility and effects.

Source: Drudi et al (2021)

The *asset price channel* captures how changes in policy rates affect the economy through changes in asset values. Climate-related risks could affect the transmission of monetary policy through this channel in several ways. More frequent extreme weather events could lead to greater volatility in financial markets due to their impact on the values of insurance companies, banks and nonfinancial firms. Physical risks can also reduce the value of residential and commercial property in exposed areas, which would lower the net worth of households and firms in those areas. Sudden changes in transition policies or in investor sentiment can lead to asset stranding and large write-downs in firms' capital values. These shocks to net worth are likely to adversely affect investment and consumption.

The *exchange rate* channel captures how an increase in domestic policy rates relative to policy rates in other countries can lead to a real appreciation of the domestic currency and reduce net exports. However, the increase in uncertainty and economic volatility due to climate change can weaken the transmission of monetary policy through the exchange rate channel. As climate-related risks can disrupt trade and alter the international pattern of production, the elasticity of demand with respect to a change in the exchange rate may fall over time.

Finally, the *expectations channel* captures the impact of monetary policy on expectations of future interest rates and inflation. Expectations of future interest rates are a key component of important economic decisions that have a long-term horizon such as fixed capital investment and durable consumption.²⁷ As climate change raises uncertainty about the future distribution of economic shocks, central banks' ability to guide private sector expectations about the future path of policy rates may also weaken and lead to higher inflation volatility.²⁸ In particular, the difficulty of

²⁸ See Weitzman (2009) for a discussion of the potential distribution of climate risks.

²⁷ See Blinder et al (2008) for a discussion of the role of expectations in the conduct of monetary policy.

differentiating between shocks according to their nature and persistence could lead to policy errors, which would further complicate communication of the medium-term policy stance. Similarly, climate-related risks could further affect the expectations channel if, for example, carbon pricing policies are projected to generate persistently higher inflation or if the downward pressure on r^{*} is likely to constrain future monetary policy.

5. Challenges for Macro-Modelling

This foregoing discussion has highlighted the potential impact of climate-related risks on the economy and the conduct of monetary policy. From an analytical perspective, this implies that central banks' forecasting and macro-modelling frameworks need to be modified to account for these risks. In terms of forecasting, there is evidence that including weather variables and changes in carbon prices significantly improves the performance of nowcasting and shortterm forecasting models, particularly in relation to food and energy prices.²⁹ In this section, however, we focus on structural models that can be used by central banks for policy-relevant scenario analysis. We assess how traditional workhorse macroeconomic models can be augmented to capture the transmission to climate-related risks to the economy and financial system. ³⁰ We also consider the role of integrated assessment models and outline how they could be combined with structural macroeconomic models to provide a comprehensive toolkit for assessing the impact of climate change.

5.1 Structural Macro Models

Structural macroeconomic models including Dynamic Stochastic General Equilibrium (DSGE) and macroeconometric models are typically the workhorse models used by central banks for policy and

²⁹ See Huurman et al (2012) and Guorio (2015) for evidence on how including weather conditions in forecasting models of output and inflation can significantly improve the accuracy of their forecasts.

³⁰ The discussion in this section focuses on how central banks' workhorse structural macroeconomic models can be augmented to incorporate climate-related risks and how climate-economy models such as IAMs could be used as satellite models in this existing macro-modelling framework. See NGFS (2019b) for a discussion of how other types of models such as, computable general equilibrium (CGE), agent based (ABMs), stock-flow consistent (SFC), network and overlapping generation (OLG) models, could also be used to assess the economic impact of climate change.

scenario analysis.³¹ As the integration of physical and transition risks in these models is still in its infancy, a common approach to modelling these risks has not yet emerged. We now explore how these models can be augmented to incorporate the relevant transmission channels to the domestic economy.³²

Climate policy instruments such as carbon taxes affect the economy through their impact on relative energy prices and resemble a classic supply shock. To incorporate their impact on the supply side of the economy, the production function in the models needs to be modified. This can be achieved in several ways. The approach taken in Yoda (OECD, 2017) and GEM (CISL, 2015) is to allow carbon taxes, and thus energy prices, to affect total factor productivity (TFP).

An alternative approach is to include energy directly as a separate factor of production. In the NiGEM model, potential output takes the form of a production function in which a constant elasticity of substitution (CES) bundle of capital and labour is nested in a Cobb-Douglas function with energy and labour-augmenting productivity. The energy component is further decomposed into the output intensity of fossil fuels and renewables (NIESR, 2021). By modelling production in this way, disorderly transition scenarios can be generated in which the share of renewables rises abruptly due, for example, to an improvement in technology.³³ However, a key challenge that arises with this approach is the difficulty of specifying and calibrating a functional form for the substitutability between renewables and non-renewables due to data constraints. A further complicating factor is that this substitutability is likely to be influenced by technical innovation over time.

On the demand side of the model, carbon taxes affect consumer prices. As a change in the effective carbon tax rate is analogous to a

³¹ See Clancy and Merola (2016), Conefrey et al (2018), Lozej et al (2018) and McInerney (2020) for details on the Central Bank's existing suite of structural macroeconomic models.

³² While the discussion here focuses on semi-structural or macroeconometric models, the modelling challenges presented by climate-related risks are similar for DSGE models. In terms of the latter, see Golosov et al (2014) for an early DSGE model with environmental features and Drudi et al (2021) for a discussion of recent advances in environmental DSGE (E-DSGE) modelling.

³³ This shock to the share of renewable energy can be coupled with a write-down of the existing capital stock to represent the "stranding" of the capital assets of fossil-fuel intensive sectors. Vermeulen et al (2018) examine the impact of such a scenario on financial firms in the Netherlands.

change in the indirect tax rate, pre-existing transmission channels in the model for the latter can be modified to incorporate the impact of carbon price policies. The implied change in the indirect rate can therefore also quantify the impact of a carbon tax change on government tax revenues. Different expenditure rules for carbon tax revenue can also be implemented to highlight the dependency of transition paths on the composition of fiscal policy (NGFS, 2021).

Section 3 outlined how physical risks could be transmitted internationally though trade channels, while international heterogeneity in climate policies could lead to shifts in the spatial pattern of production. Transition paths could vary across countries due to differences in existing capital stocks, productivity, socioeconomic conditions, and economic structure. In addition, transition risks that lead to higher risk premia and tighter credit conditions could be transmitted through international macrofinancial linkages. Accordingly, structural models should be able to capture international spillovers from climate shocks, particularly for small open economies which are most exposed to these spillovers.³⁴ As discussed below, one approach would be to use a global model such as NiGEM as a satellite model to a more detailed country model. The latter is important in providing more detail on the domestic macro-financial impact of climate-related shocks and capturing potential heterogeneity in the transmission of these shocks across sectors.

Perhaps the most conceptually challenging aspect of using structural macroeconometric models to assess the impact of climate change is that unlike typical quantitative risks assessments, the probability distribution of risks derived from historical data may be uninformative about future climate change risks (Allen et al, 2020). As climate change may generate significant structural shifts in the economy, economic relationships that held in the past, and which are embedded in the models, may not continue to hold in the future (Drudi et al, 2021). In this context, scenario analysis could be used to address these limitations (Bolton et al, 2020). This allows central

³⁴ Incorporating international transmission channels is also important for analysing issues related to 'carbon leakage' and the introduction of a carbon border adjustment mechanism. For example, in NiGEM, countries that have implemented carbon taxes can form a "Green Club" that imposes a carbon adjustment tax on imports from non-members (NIESR, 2021).

banks to incorporate model and parameter uncertainty through a range of assumptions about the long-term impact of physical risks, the timing and stringency of transition policies, the rate of technological progress, and potential shifts in consumer preferences.

5.2 Integrated Assessment Models

Integrated Assessment Models (IAMs) have been used extensively to inform policymakers and make important contributions to the economic assessment of climate change policies in several recent reports of the IPCC (IPCC, 2014, 2018). These models typically include climate, energy and economic modules, which makes them particularly useful for modelling physical and transition risks.

IAMs can be used to generate the most cost-effective path for the economy to meet an exogenous climate or emissions target and therefore do not need to specify a 'damage function' (Drudi et al, 2021).^{35, 36} These models simulate the changes in energy demand, land use and policy that would be needed to meet a particular temperature or emissions trajectory (NGFS, 2021). One of the key variables in IAMs is the (shadow) price of emissions, which is defined as the marginal abatement cost of an additional tonne of GHG emissions (Batten, 2018). This price is an important indicator of transition risk and is determined by the stringency and coverage of policies ('policy intensity'), the availability of clean technologies, and consumer preferences for carbon-intensive goods.

Transition trajectories will also depend on assumptions made about the availability of carbon capture and storage (CCS) and carbon dioxide removal (CDR) processes. These processes allow for the removal or capture of carbon from the atmosphere through, for example, afforestation, soil sequestration and bioenergy crops (Batten, 2018). For similar reasons, the agriculture, forestry and land modules in IAMs provide important information on how adaptation in these sectors could lead to significant reductions in emissions intensity through carbon sequestration.

³⁵ The discussion here focuses on 'cost effectiveness' IAMs. These models differ from 'cost-benefit' IAMs in that they take the global warming target and corresponding trajectory for emissions as given rather than solving for these values endogenously.

³⁶ A damage function specifies the impact of higher temperatures on GDP and productivity and thus enables these models to capture the feedback loop between economic activity, emissions, and global warming.

Incorporating physical risks in IAMs changes the optimal transition path by raising carbon prices in short to medium term and lowering the rate of increase in the longer term (NGFS, 2021). Physical risks will also affect the transition paths of other key variables including energy use and investment. The impact of chronic physical risks on the economy can be quantified through a damage function, although there is considerable uncertainty about how to appropriately specify and calibrate these functions (Pindyck, 2013, de Bruin and Krishnamurthy, 2021).³⁷

5.3 A Suite-of-Models Approach

As IAMs and structural macroeconomic models have different strengths in terms of elucidating the channels through which climate change affects the economy, an optimal strategy for central banks from a modelling perspective might be to adopt a 'suite-of-models' approach that utilises the output of both types of models in a single analytical framework. In this type of modular framework, satellite IAMs and workhorse structural macroeconomic models could also be combined with Input-Output models to facilitate a sectoral analysis of the economic impact of climate change, and with loan-loss models to allow for the stress testing of banks' balance sheets under different climate risk scenarios.³⁸

Following NGFS (2021), Figure 3 illustrates how climate-related risks could be incorporated in central banks' macro-modelling framework through a suite-of-models approach. This framework has three components. The IAM generates scenarios for the relevant climate and economy variables including mitigation costs, carbon prices, land use, energy system characteristics, and energy-related technological progress that are consistent with a given emission pathway. The implied physical risks arising from each scenario can also be simulated post-recursively using an IAM damage function.

³⁷ IAMs have several limitations including their parsimonious representations of economic relations, their inclusion of only a limited number of transmission channels, and the sensitivity of results to the inclusion of particular feedback mechanisms (Batten, 2018; Dietz et al, 2021). In addition, most IAMs do not incorporate potential tipping points, non-linearities and irreversible damage from global warming and may therefore underestimate the impact of climate-related risks (NGFS, 2021).

³⁸ See Vermeulen et al (2018) and Allen et al (2020) for examples of suite-of-models approaches to stress-testing banks' balance sheets for climate-related risks.

The second component of this framework is a global structural model. NGFS (2021) outlines how the outputs from the IAM can be mapped to a global structural model such as NiGEM in the form of shocks to supply and demand in the case of physical risks, and constraints on the trajectories of energy use, carbon prices and technological progress in the case of transition risks. As discussed above, structural macroeconomic models also need to be augmented to incorporate the transmission mechanisms through which climaterelated risks affect the economy (Allen et al, 2020; Drudi et al, 2021). NIESR (2021) outlines how NiGEM has been modified to incorporate transmission channels for climate-related risks, including the impact of carbon taxes on production and consumption, changes in the energy intensity of production. Box A outlines in more detail how the NGFS has combined outputs from NiGEM and an IAM to simulate the impact of different transition scenarios on the global economy.

The final component of the framework is a structural macroeconomic model of the domestic economy. As discussed above, these models can be augmented to incorporate climate-related risks through modification of the supply, price-setting and fiscal blocks of the model. The primary advantage of integrating climate features into a model of the local economy, is the level of macro-financial detail it provides relative to a country block in a large global model, which typically is highly parsimonious and has similar specifications for each of the model's equation across countries. In contrast, a single country macroeconomic model can integrate country-specific features such as differences in the energy intensity of production or in risk premia across sectors.



Figure 3: Framework for Modelling Climate-related Risks

Source: adapted from NGFS (2021)

In Figure 3, the paths of external variables such as imported fossil fuel prices, competitor prices, and foreign demand that are generated by NiGEM can be imposed on the domestic model. These variables capture the spillover of international climate risk shocks to the domestic economy. Similar to the approach in NiGEM, physical risks can be incorporated through supply and demand shocks that are calibrated from the IAM. Finally, domestic transition risks can also be simulated through shocks to investment premia, carbon taxes and fiscal policy instruments.

Box A: The Economic Impact of Different Transition Scenarios

In this Box, we illustrate the economic impact of different transition scenarios designed by the NGFS. We focus on the international impact of each scenario to highlight the potentially large spillovers to Ireland that may arise from transition policies in other countries. These simulations can also provide insights into the key channels through which climate-related risks can affect the Irish economy and can accordingly be used to inform the ongoing process of incorporating these risks in the Central Bank's macroeconomic models. Moreover, they highlight the importance of modifying these models so that the relative importance of different transition risks can be assessed. This would then aid policymakers on how fiscal and macroprudential policies could be recalibrated to mitigate the impact of these risks on the economy and financial system.

As mentioned above, NGFS (2021) outlines how the outputs of IAMs can be combined with those of a global model such as NiGEM model can be used to estimate the impact of these scenarios on the global economy. The IAMs determine the pathways of energy, land, climate and economic systems that are consistent with a given trajectory for carbon emissions. The outputs of these models are then used as constraints on the baseline paths of GDP, population and primary energy consumption in NiGEM. Each scenario in NiGEM subsequently incorporates transition and physical shocks consistent with the IAM pathways. The former mainly comprise of shocks to carbon taxes, energy intensity and risk premia, while the latter include shocks to domestic demand, labour productivity and trend capacity.

We focus on three scenarios: a scenario reflecting an 'orderly' transition, *Net Zero 2050*, and two scenarios reflecting a 'disorderly' transition, *Divergent Net Zero* and *Delayed transition*. Table A outlines the key assumptions underlying each scenario. The policy target indicates the degree of physical risk incorporated in the scenario, with those scenarios that achieve net zero emissions by 2050 and limit global warming to 1.5°C above pre-industrial levels having the lowest physical risks. The remaining columns of

Table A indicate the degree of transition risk associated with each scenario across several dimensions. The timeliness, stringency and coverage of climate policies is a key determinant of the economic disruption generated by each transition pathways. The *Net Zero 2050* scenario will thus have significantly lower transition risks than the other scenarios as it assumes that the implementation of these policies is immediate and smooth. Similarly, while technological change in terms of the development of low-carbon technologies is also important to minimising the economic costs of transition, sudden or abrupt changes in the availability of these technologies can lead to significant disruption by rendering existing production processes obsolete and precipitating a sharp depreciation in the asset values of firms in carbon-intensive sectors.

Scenario	Policy Target	Policy Reaction	Technology Change	Carbon Removal	Regional Variation	Carbon Prices ³⁹
Net Zero 2050	1.5°C	Immediate and smooth	Fast change	Medium use	Medium variation	US\$3 to US\$673 (2020- 2050)
Divergent Net Zero	1.5°C	Immediate but divergent	Fast change	Low use	High variation	US\$3 to US\$783 (2020-2050)
Delayed Transition	1.8°C	Delayed	Slow/Fast change	Low use	Medium variation	US\$2.50 to US\$623 (2030- 2050)

Table A: Scenario Assumptions

Source: NGFS (2021)

Table A shows that technological change in the scenarios is mainly assumed to be fast, which accordingly contributes to higher transition risks in the short to medium term. The scenarios are also differentiated according to the assumed availability of carbon dioxide removal (CDR). CDR, through for example afforestation, lowers transition risks as it reduces the need for abrupt changes in other parts of the economy in order to achieve a given emissions target. Transition risks also increase according to the degree of policy heterogeneity across regions and sectors. A high degree of policy asymmetry, can lead to disruptive shifts in the composition of production, trade and consumption. The final column of Table A shows the increase in carbon prices in each scenario, which is a function of each of the transition risks in the table. Carbon prices rise steadily from 2020 onwards in the *Net Zero 2050* and *Divergent Net Zero* scenarios, although at a slightly higher rate in the latter. In contrast, carbon prices in *Delayed transition* scenario

³⁹ Carbon prices are reported in terms of 2010 US dollars/tonne CO₂.

remain flat until 2030, after which they increase at a much steeper average rate than in the other scenarios.

To assess the economic effects of different transition paths, we simulate the three scenarios in NiGEM up to 2050. ^{40, 41} The baseline scenario against which we benchmark the results is assumed to be 'climate neutral' and thus does not incorporate the impact of physical or transition risks on the economy. It also assumes that population and productivity growth continue in line with past trends, while the pathway for GDP is adjusted to account for the short-term impact of COVID-19 on growth rates.

Figure A shows the impact of each scenario on GDP in the Euro Area, China, US, along with the global weighted-average. In the case of the *Net Zero 2050* scenario, the impact on Euro Area GDP is positive as the negative impact on demand from higher carbon prices and energy costs is more than offset by the use of carbon tax revenues to boost government investment and to reduce distortionary (mainly labour) taxes. In contrast, the impact on China and the US is negative in the medium to long term, reflecting the greater intensity of fossil fuels in production in those countries compared to the Euro Area.

The more severe impact on GDP in the *Delayed* relative to the *Net Zero 2050* scenario highlights the benefits of the early introduction of mitigation policies. The sharp rise in energy prices from the sudden implementation of stringent carbon pricing policies increase in carbon prices leads to higher production costs for firms and reduces households' real incomes. The delayed policy response generates uncertainty about the future trajectory of climate policies, which dampens private investment through higher risk premia. In addition, lower government spending and the reduced availability of CDR technologies increase the cost of transition relative to the orderly scenario. The delay in implementing mitigation policies also leads to an increase in physical risks, which have a negative impact on both the supply and demand sides of the economy. In this scenario, each economy experiences a sharp drop in output, with Euro Area output almost four per cent below baseline by 2050.

⁴⁰ The underlying scenario files were obtained from the National Institute for Economic and Social Research.

⁴¹ NGFS (2021) uses three different IAMs to generate the transition pathways: GCAM, MESSAGEix-GLOBIOM and REMIND-MAgPIE. These models differ according to several features including whether they are partial or general equilibrium, their regional and sectoral granularity, and whether agents have perfect foresight or backward-looking expectations. The results we use in our scenarios are from REMIND-MAgPIE, which is a general equilibrium, perfect foresight model.



Source: author's calculations, NIGEM.

The *Divergent* scenario shows a slightly smaller impact relative to the *Delayed* scenario but with adverse effects occurring much earlier. A key driver of the negative GDP impact in the *Divergent* scenario is the asymmetry in climate policies across sectors. In particular, carbon prices for the transport and building sectors are assumed to be three times those in the industry sector. As shown in Table A, aggregate carbon prices also rise more steeply than in the orderly scenario. As carbon tax revenues are assumed to be used to reduce government debt rather than raise government investment as in the orderly scenario, the negative impact of higher carbon taxes is not offset by government stimulus. Moreover, the sectoral divergence in climate policies generates higher uncertainty, which raises risk premia and lowers private investment.

Figure B illustrates the contribution of transition and physical risks to determining the overall impact on Euro Area GDP. The results for the *Net Zero 2050* scenario highlight the role of governments can play in supporting the transition. While the impact of carbon taxes is negative, this could be offset, depending on the size of multipliers, by recycling the revenues from the tax into higher investment and lower labour taxes. In the *Delayed* and *Divergent* scenarios, the key drivers of fall in output relative to baseline are higher carbon taxes and physical risks. However, the impact of these shocks is not mitigated by expansionary fiscal policy as it is in the *Net Zero 2050* scenario. Instead, carbon tax revenues are used to reduce government debt. Although this reduces



sovereign risk premia, it has a much lower stimulatory effect on the economy in the model than fiscal expansion through, for example, higher investment.

Source: author's calculations, NIGEM.

Notes: 'C tax' are carbon taxes, 'Other T.' are other transition risks excluding carbon taxes, 'Fiscal' are fiscal policies, 'Bus' are investment risk premia shocks, 'Phys' are physical risks, and 'Tot' is total impact.

It is important to emphasise that, while our analysis focuses on the economic (output) impact of different transition pathways as a proxy for welfare, there are other dimensions of the transition such as biodiversity losses, environmental damages, and distributional issues that influence welfare. Accordingly, our results thus have the narrow interpretation that transition pathways that are characterised by the delayed or uncoordinated implementation of climate policies, tend to have a more negative impact on the economy than those that are characterised by an orderly and expeditious implementation of policies.

6. Conclusion

In this Article we discuss the challenges that climate-related risks present for central banks from both an analytical and policy perspective. Physical and transition risks generate economic shocks that affect both the supply and demand sides of the economy. Differences in the timing and

persistence of these shocks can complicate an assessment of the cyclical position of the economy, and thus the calibration of the monetary stance.

Climate-related risks could affect the transmission of monetary policy through a number of channels. For example, if banks' balance sheets become impaired due to losses arising from these risks, the transmission of monetary policy though the credit channel may weaken. Climate change could also affect the conduct of monetary policy through its impact on the natural rate of interest. In particular, uncertainty about the future distribution of climate-related risks could put downward pressure on the natural rate by increasing risk aversion and precautionary saving. This would reduce monetary policy space and increase the likelihood of hitting the effective lower bound.

Finally, we highlight the importance for integrating climate-related risks in central banks' short-term forecasting and macro-modelling frameworks. Forecasting models, particularly those for food and energy prices, can be augmented with weather and climate policy variables to improve their accuracy. Structural macroeconomic models can also be modified to incorporate the transmission channels for different types of climate-related risks. However, we also emphasise the benefits of a suite-of-models approach, in which the output of models with detailed climate-economy interactions such as IAMs could be combined with that of a structural macroeconomic model. As part of this approach, the Central Bank is currently augmenting its macro-modelling framework to include the key channels through which climate-related risks could affect the Irish economy and banking system.

References

Acemoglu, Daron, Philippe Aghion, Leonardo Bursztyn and David Hemous. (2012). "The Environment and Directed Technical Change". *American Economic Review* Vol. 102, No. 1, pp 131-66.

Acemoglu, Daron, Ufuk Akcigit, Douglas Hanley and William Kerr. (2016). "Transition to clean technology", *Journal of Political Economy*, Vol. 124, No. 1, pp. 52-104.

Aghion, Philippe, David Hemous and Reinhilde Veugelers. (2009). "No green growth without innovation", *Policy Brief* No. 7. Bruegel.

Aldy, Joseph E. and Robert N. Stavins. (2012). "The Promise and Problems of Pricing Carbon: Theory and Evidence", *Journal of Environment and Development*, Vol. 21, No. 2, pp. 152-180.

Allen, Thomas, Stephane Dees, Jean Boissinot, Carlos Graciano, Valerie Chouard, Laurent Clerc, Annabelle de Gaye, Antoine Devulder, Sebastien Diot, Noeme Lisack, Fulvio Pegoraro, Marie Rabate, Romain Svartzman and Lucas Vernet.(2020). "Climaterelated scenarios for financial stability assessment: an application to France", *Working Paper Series* No. 774. Banque de France.

Bansal, Ravi, Dana Kiku and Marcelo Ochoa. (2019). "Climate Change Risk", paper presented at the Economics of Climate Change Conference held at Federal Reserve Bank of San Francisco, 8 November.

Batten, Sandra. (2018). "Climate change and the macro-economy: a critical review", Staff Working Paper No. 706. Bank of England.

Batten, Sandra, Rhiannon Sowerbutts and Misa Tanaka. (2020). "Climate change: Macroeconomic impact and implications for monetary poicy", in Thomas Walker, Dieter Gramlich, Mohammad Bitar and Pedram Fardnia (eds.), *Ecological, Societal, and Technological Risks and the Financial Sector*.

BCBS. (2021). "Climate-related risk drivers and their transmission channels", BCBS Discussion Paper No. 517. Basel Committee on Banking Supervision.

Beyer, Andreas, Giulio Nicoletti, Niki Papadopoulou, Patrick Papsdorf, Gerhard Runstler, Claudia Schwarz, Joao Sousa and Olivier Vergote. (2017). "The transmission channels of monetary, macroand microprudential policies and their interrelations", *Occasional Paper* No. 191. European Central Bank.

Black, Simon, Ian Parry, James Roaf and Karlygash Zhunussova. (2021). "Not Yet on Tract to Net Zero: The Urgent Need for Greater Ambition and Policy Action to Achieve Paris Temperature Goals", IMF Staff Climate Note 2021/005. International Monetary Fund, Washington, D.C.

Blinder, Alan S., Michael Ehrmann, Marcel Fratzscher, Jakob de Haan and David-Jan Jansen. (2008). "Central Bank Communication and Monetary Policy: A Survey of Theory and Evidence", *Journal of Economic Literature*, Vol. 46, No. 4, pp. 910-945.

Bolton, Patrick, Morgan Despres, Luiz Awazu Pereira da Silva, Frederic Samana and Romain Svartman. (2020). "The green swan: central banking and financial stability in the age of climate change", Bank for International Settlements.

Boneva, Lena, Gianluigi Ferrucci, and Francesco Paolo Mongelli. (2021). "To be or not to be 'green': how can monetary policy react to climate change?", *Occasional Paper* No. 285. European Central Bank.

Bovenberg, Lans. (1999). "Green Tax Reforms and the Double Dividend: An Updated Reader's Guide", *International Tax and Public Finance* Vol. 6, No. 3, pp. 421-443.

Caballero, Ricardo J. and Emmanuel Fahri. (2018). "The Safety Trap", *Review of Economic Studies*, Oxford University Press, Vol. 85, No. 1, pp. 223-274.

Carney, Mark. (2015). "Breaking the tragedy of the horizon- climate change and financial stability", speech at Lloyd's of London, 29 September 2015. London.

CBI. (2021). *Strategic Plan 2022-2026*. Central Bank of Ireland. Available at: <u>https://www.centralbank.ie/docs/default-</u> <u>source/publications/corporate-reports/strategic-plan/our-</u> <u>strategy/central-bank-of-ireland-our-strategy.pdf?sfvrsn=4</u>

Chen, Jiaqian, Maksym Chepeliev, Daniel Garcia-Macia, Dora Iakova, James Road, Anna Shabunina, Dominique van der Mensbrugghe, and Philippe Wingender. (2020). "EU climate mitigation policy", European Department Working Paper No. 20/13. International Monetary Fund, Washington, DC.

CISL. (2015). "Unhedgeable risk: How climate change sentiment impacts investment". University of Cambridge Institute for Sustainability Leadership.

Clancy, Daragh and Rossana Merola. (2016). "EIRE Mod- A DSGE Model for Ireland", *The Economic and Social Review*, Economic and Social Studies, Vol. 47, No. 1, pp. 1-31.

Cohen, Benjamin and Michela Scatigna. (2016). "Banks and capital requirements: channels of adjustment", *Journal of Banking and Finance* Vol. 69, No. S1, pp. 56-69.

Coeure, Benoit. (2018). "Monetary Policy and Climate Change". Speech at a conference on "Scaling up Green Finance: The Role of Central Banks", organised by the Network for Greening the Financial System, the Deutsche Bundesbank and the Council on Economic Policies, Berlin, 8 November 2018.

Conefrey, Thomas, Enda Keenan, and Tara McIndoe-Calder. (2022). "The carbon intensity of employment in Ireland". *Quarterly Bulletin* No.1. Central Bank of Ireland.

Conefrey, Thomas, Gerard O'Reilly and Graeme Walsh. (2018). "Modelling External Shocks in a Small Open Economy: The Case of Ireland. *National Institute Economic Review*, Vol. 244, No. 1, pp. 56-63.

Corbisiero, Giuseppe and Neil Lawton. (2021). "The ECB's Review of its Monetary Policy Strategy", Signed Article, *Quarterly Bulletin* No.4. Central Bank of Ireland.

Darvas, Zolt and Guntram Wolff. (2021). "A green fiscal pact: climate investment in times of budget consolidation", *Policy Contribution* 18/2021. Bruegel

De Bruin, Kelly, Eoin Monaghan and Aykut Mert Yakut. (2019a). "The Economic and Distributional Impacts of an Increased Carbon Tax with Different Revenue Recycling Schemes", *Research Series* No. 95. Economic and Social Research Institute.

De Bruin, Kelly, Eoin Monaghan and Aykut Mert Yakut. (2019b). "The impacts of removing fossil fuel subsidies and increasing carbon tax in

Ireland", *Research Series* No. 98. Economic and Social Research Institute.

De Bruin, Kelly and Chandra Kiran Krishnamurthy. (2021). "Optimal climate policy with fat-tailed uncertainty: what the models can tell us". ESRI Working Paper No. 697. Economic and Social Research Institute.

DECC. (2021). *Climate Action Plan* 2021. Department of Environment, Climate and Communications.

Dechezlepretre, Antoine, Ralf Martin and Myra Mohnen. (2017). "Knowledge Spillovers from clean and dirty technologies", GRI Working Papers 135, Grantham Research Institute on Climate Change and the Environment.

Dell, Melissa, Benjamin F. Jones and Benjamin A. Olken. (2014). "What do we learn from the weather? The New Climate-Economy Literature", *Journal of Economic Literature*, Vol. 52, No. 3, pp. 740-798.

De Mooij, Ruud, Ian Parry, and Michael Keen. (2012). *Fiscal policy to mitigate climate change: a guide for policymakers*. International Monetary Fund.

DEPR. (2021a). *Ireland's National Recovery and Resilience Plan 2021*. Department of Public Expenditure and Reform.

DEPR. (2021b). *National Development Plan 2021-2030*. Department of Public Expenditure and Reform.

Dietz, Simon and Frederick van der Ploeg, Armon Rezai and Frank Venmans. (2021). "Are economists getting climate dynamics right and does it matter?", *Journal of the Association of Environmental and Resource Economists*, Vol. 8, No. 5, pp. 895-921.

Donnery, Sharon. (2019). "Risks and opportunities from climate change", address to Department of Finance and Sustainable Nation Ireland Conference.

Drudi, Franceso and many others. (2021). "Strategy Review: Climate change and monetary policy in the euro area", *Occasional Paper* No.271. European Central Bank.

ECB. (2021). "Annex: Detailed roadmap of climate change-related actions", European Central Bank.

https://www.ecb.europa.eu/press/pr/date/2021/html/ecb.pr210708 _1_annex~f84ab35968.en.pdf

European Commission. (2021). European Green Deal. https://ec.europa.eu/clima/eu-action/european-green-deal_en

European Environment Agency. (2017). Climate change, impacts and vulnerability in Europe. An indicator-based report.

Fankhauser, Sam and Richard S. J. Tol. (2005). "On climate change and economic growth", *Resource and Energy Economics*, Vol. 27, No. 1, pp. 1-17.

Golosov, Mikhail, John Hassler, Per Krussell and Aleh Tsyvinski. (2014). "Optimal taxes on fossil fuel in general equilibrium", *Econometrica*, Vol. 82, No. 1, pp. 41-88.

Gourio, Francois. (2015). "The effect of weather on first-quarter GDP", *Chicago Fed Letter* No. 341. Federal Reserve Bank of Chicago.

Heal, Geoffrey and Jisung Park. (2016). "Temperature Stress and the Direct Impact of Climate Change: A Review of an Emerging Literature".

Hotte, Kerstin. (2020). "How to accelerate green technology diffusion? Directed technological change in the presence of coevolving absorptive capacity". *Energy Economics* Vol. 85, No. 104565.

Hsiang, Solomon M. and Amir S. Jina. (2014). "The Causal Effect of Environmental Catastrophe on Long-Run Economic Growth: Evidence From 6,700 Cyclones", NBER Working Paper 20352. National Bureau of Economic Research.

Huurman, Christian, Francesco Ravazzolo and Chen Zhou. (2012). "The power of weather", *Computational Statistics and Data Analysis*, Vol. 56, No. 11, pp. 3793-3807.

IEA. (2021). "Net Zero by 2050: A Roadmap for the Global Energy Sector". International Energy Agency. Paris.

IMF. (2019). "Fiscal Policies for Paris Climate Strategies- from Principle to Practice", IMF Policy Paper No. 19/010. International Monetary Fund, Washington DC. IPCC. (2014). "Climate change 2014 Synthesis Report". Contribution of Working Groups I, II and III to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change.

IPCC. (2018). "Global warming of 1.5°C: An IPCC Special Report on the impacts of global warming of 1.5°C above pre-industrial levels and related global greenhouse gas emission pathways, in the context of strengthening the global response to the threat of climate change, sustainable development and efforts to eradicate poverty. Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change.

Kaufman, Darrell, Nicholas McKay, Cody Routson, Michael Erb, Christoph Datwyler, Philipp S. Sommer, Oliver Heiri and Basil Davis. (2020). "Holocene global mean surface temperature, a multi-method reconstruction approach", *Scientific Data*, Vol. 7, No. 201, pp. 1-13.

Kanzig, Diego. (2021). "The Unequal Economic Consequences of Carbon Pricing", *mimeo*. London Business School.

Krogstrup, Signe and William Oman. (2019). "Macroeconomic and Financial Policies for Climate Change Mitigation: A Review of the Literature", *IMF Working Papers*, No. 19/185. International Monetary Fund.

Laubach, Thomas and John C. Williams. (2003). "Measuring the Natural Rate of Interest", *Review of Economics and Statistics*, Vol. 85, No. 4, pp. 1063-1070.

Lagarde, Christine. (2021). "Climate change and central banksanalysing, advising and acting", speech at the International Climate Change Conference, Venice, 11 July.

Lane, Philip R. (2021). "Climate change and the Irish financial system", *Economic Letter* No. 1. Central Bank of Ireland.

Levinson, Arik and Scott Taylor. (2008). "Unmasking the Pollution Haven Effect", *International Economic Review*, Vol. 49, No. 1, pp. 223-254.

Lozej, Matija, Luca Onorante and Ansgar Rannenberg. (2018). "Countercyclical capital regulation in a small open economy DSGE model", Working Paper Series 2144. European Central Bank. Madouros, Vasileios. (2020). "Climate change, the financial sector and the role of the Central Bank", presentation at *Path for the Public Finances 2020: Budgeting for Climate Change*, Dublin, 28 February.

Makhlouf, Gabriel. (2021). "Climate Change: Towards Action", *Governor's Blog.* https://www.centralbank.ie/news/article/blogclimate-change-towards-action

Mazzucato, Mariana and Caetano C.R. Penna. (2016). "Beyond market failures: the market creating and shaping roles of state investment banks", *Journal of Economic Policy Reform*, Vol. 19, No. 4, pp. 305-326.

McInerney, Niall. (2020). "Macro-Financial Linkages in a Structural Model of the Irish Economy". Research Technical Paper No. 3. Central Bank of Ireland.

Mertens, Thomas M. and John C. Williams. (2019). "Monetary Policy Frameworks and the Effective Lower Bound on Interest Rates", AEA *Papers and Proceedings* Vol. 109, pp. 427-432, May. American Economic Association.

NGFS. (2019a). "A call for action: climate change as a source of financial risk", First comprehensive report, Network for Greening the Financial System.

NGFS. (2019b). "Technical supplement to the First comprehensive report", Network for Greening the Financial System.

NGFS. (2021). "NGFS climate scenarios: technical documentation", Network for Greening the Financial System.

NIESR. (2021). "NiGEM and Climate Shocks". National Institute for Economic and Social Research. *Mimeo*

Nolan, Paul, John O'Sullivan and Ray McGrath. (2017). "Impacts of climate change on mid-twenty-first-century rainfall in Ireland: a high-resolution regional climate model ensemble approach", *International Journal of Climatology*, Vol. 37, No. 12, pp. 4347-4363.

Parry, Ian, Peter Dohlman, Cory Hillier, Martin Kaufman, Kyung Kwak, Florian Misch, James Roaf, and Christophe Waerzeggers. (2021). "Carbon Pricing: What Role for Border Carbon Adjustments?", IMF Staff Climate Note 2021/004, International Monetary Fund, Washing, DC. Pindyck, Robert S. (2013). "Climate Change Policy: What Do the Models Tell US?", *Journal of Economic Literature*, Vol. 51, No. 3, pp 860-872.

Pisani-Ferry, Jean. (2021). "Climate policy is macroeconomic policy and the implications will be significant", *Policy Brief* 21-20. Peterson Institute for International Economics.

Porter, Michael E. (1991). "America's Green Strategy", Scientific American Vol. 264, No. 4 p. 168.

Porter, Michael E and Claas Van der Linde. (1995). "Towards a New Conception of the Environment-Competitiveness Relationship", *The Journal of Economic Perspectives*, Vol. 9, No. 4, pp.97-118.

OECD. (2017). "Growth implications of climate action", *Investing in Climate*, *Investing in Growth*, Chapter 4. OECD: Paris.Ramsey, Frank P. (1928). "A Mathematical Theory of Saving", *Economic Journal*, Vol. 38, No. 152, pp. 543-559.

Schnabel, Isabel. (2022). "Looking through higher energy prices? Monetary policy and the green transition", remarks at a panel on 'Climate and the Financial System" at the American Finance Association 2022 Virtual Annual Meeting.

Sibley, Ed. (2021). "Governance and risk in a time of uncertainty and change", speech to Institute of Directors. 17 February.

Stephenson, David B. (2008). "Definition, diagnosis, and origin of extreme weather and climate events", in Henry F. Diaz and Richard J. Murnane (eds.), *Climate Extremes and Society*, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Tovar Reanos, Miguel and Muireann Lynch. (2019). "Carbon taxation in Ireland: Distributional effects of revenue recycling policies". *QEC Special Article*. Economic and Social Research Institute.

Vermeulen, Robert, Edo Schets, Melanie Lohuis, Barbara Kobl, David-Jan Jansen and Willem Heeringa. (2018). "An energy transition risk stress test for the financial system of the Netherlands", *Occasional Studies*, Vol. 16-7. De Nederlandsche Bank.

Villeroy de Galhau, Francois. (2019). "Climate Change: Central Banks Are Taking Action". *Banque de France Financial Stability Review*, no. 23, pp. 7-16. Von Peter, Goetz, Sebastian von Dahlen and Sweta C. Saxena. (2012). "Unmitigated disasters? New evidence on the macroeconomic cost of natural catastrophes", BIS Working Paper No. 394. Bank for International Settlements.

Weitzman, Martin L. (2009). "On modelling and interpreting the economics of catastrophic climate change", *The Review of Economics and Statistics*, Vol. 91, No. 1, pp. 1-19.

Woodford, Michael. (2003). Interest and Prices. Princeton University Press.

Zenios, Stavros A. (2021). "The risks from climate change to sovereign debt in Europe", *Policy Contribution* 16/2021. Bruegel.

T: +353 (0)1 224 6000 E: enquiries@centralbank.ie www.centralbank.ie



Banc Ceannais na hÉireann Central Bank of Ireland

Eurosystem